IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 87,632

E.R. SQUIBB & SONS, INC., CONNAUGHT LABORATORIES, INC. and HENRY SCHEIN, INC.,

Petitioners,

٧.

BOYD B. FARNES,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF E.R. SQUIBB & SONS, INC., CONNAUGHT LABORATORIES, INC. and HENRY SCHEIN, INC.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Florida Bar No. 022730
Alison Marie Igoe, Esq. Florida Bar No. 821081
Greenberg, Traurig, Hoffman, Lipoff, Rosen & Quentel, P.A.
1221 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 579-0500

Counsel for E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., Connaught Laboratories, Inc. and Henry Schein, Inc.

GREENBERG TRAURIG

ļ

INTRODUCTION

After receiving a flu vaccination prescribed by a physician at the medical clinic where he worked, Boyd Farnes began to experience a recurrence of symptoms associated with Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS), a rare neurological disorder. He sued the manufacturer and distributors of the vaccine, alleging that the package insert that accompanied each vial of the vaccine was inadequate to inform him specifically, or through a learned intermediary, about a possible connection between the influenza vaccine and GBS.

A jury determined that the package insert was inadequate and the proximate cause of Farnes' illness. The trial judge vacated the jury award and ordered a new trial on the ground that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. The court's detailed order evaluated the credibility of both parties' expert witnesses along with all of the evidence. It applied the principles for evaluating pharmaceutical inserts in *Upjohn Co. v. MacMurdo*, 562 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 1990), to conclude that the package insert was accurate, clear and unambiguous. The court denied the defendants' motion for a directed verdict, however.

On appeal, the Third District re-weighed the evidence, reversed the new trial order, and reinstated the verdict on a finding that the trial judge had abused his discretion. In stark contrast to *Smith v. Brown*, 525 So. 2d 868, 870 (Fla. 1988), which held that trial judges "must necessarily consider the credibility of the witnesses," in this case the district court faulted the trial judge for weighing the credibility of the expert witnesses in reaching his decision. The Court granted review of the district court's decision on the petitioners' suggestion that it was in conflict with *Smith v. Brown* as regards the standard by which district courts review orders granting a new trial.

At issue on the merits is whether, as a matter of law under *MacMurdo* and *Felix v*. *Hoffman-LaRoche, Inc.*, 540 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1989), the manufacturer and the distributors of a vaccine can be held liable for adverse reactions when the physician is advised by the package insert about the benefits and risks of vaccination, is provided with accurate information on the state of medical knowledge as to a possible connection between the vaccine and this rare

disorder, is alerted as to circumstances under which informed consent should be obtained from a patient, and is expressly alerted to give special consideration to those with either an active or stabilized neurological disorder, such as GBS. In this case, the "learned intermediary" was a nurse, acting under the direction of the physician/medical director at Farnes' clinic, who acknowledged that she read and understood the package insert, knew that GBS is a neurological disorder, but nonetheless failed to inquire of Farnes as to his medical history or to delay administering the vaccine until she consulted with a physician.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Farnes sued Connaught Laboratories, Inc., E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc. and Henry Schein, Inc. (collectively called "Connaught" for convenience), alleging that the failure of its 1989-90 package insert to warn of a possible connection between the vaccine and GBS was the proximate cause of a recurrence of his disorder. (R. 4-30; 264-305). Farnes maintained that the information it did provide was not emphatic enough. *Id*.

Each party presented a single expert witness to opine on the adequacy of the package insert. (R. 1284-1350; 1547-97). The jury returned a verdict awarding Farnes \$13,500,000, but finding Farnes 10% comparatively negligent. (R. 694-95).

Connaught requested a directed verdict based on *MacMurdo* and, in the alternative, a new trial. (R. 697-704). The court denied a directed verdict, but granted a new trial in an eight-page order that articulated its reasoning with particularity — addressing the language and adequacy of the package insert, the recommendations of established medicine, and the weight to be given the credibility of the expert witness's testimony. (R. 999-1006).

Farnes appealed the grant of a new trial to the Third District, and Connaught crossappealed the court's denial of a directed verdict. (R. 1007-16). The district court reversed grant of a new trial and remanded with instructions to reinstate the jury verdict, later issuing a post-decision clarification that modified its decision. *Farnes v. E.R. Squibb and Sons, Inc.*, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D2 and D392 (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 20, 1995 and Feb. 14, 1996). (R. 1777-

79). Connaught sought review on the basis of decisional conflict, which the Court granted.On Connaught's motion, the Court extended the time for service of its initial brief toAugust 5.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

Connaught Laboratories is one of a number of manufacturers licensed by the FDA to produce an influenza vaccine. Each year, the Federal Center for Disease Control (CDC) chooses a particular strain of virus that is circulating worldwide and is likely to circulate in the United States the following winter. (R. 1436FF-HH). Each manufacturer receives an inactive viral strain from which it produces the vaccine. (R. 1436FF-HH; 1436Y).

Connaught manufacturers its vaccine in chicken egg embryos and then tests it on animals for general safety. (R. 1436CCC-EEE; 1427). The resulting product is reviewed by the FDA under established criteria and quality control standards. (R. 1402).

The vaccine is not sold or made available to the general public. Connaught sells it directly to physicians, the so-called "learned intermediaries," who administer it. (R. 1402). Accompanying each vial of the 1989-90 vaccine was a package insert that described the vaccine and informed the physician about a number of matters, including health-related risks. (R. 1402). The language in all package inserts is reviewed and approved by the FDA. (R. 1420-21). Physicians are responsible for informing each patient about the risks and benefits of receiving the vaccine, and for obtaining the patient's informed consent. (R. 1402).

I. <u>Connaught's package insert</u>,

Connaught's package insert contained the following sections: (1) Description;
(2) Clinical Pharmacology; (3) Indications and Usage; (4) Warnings; (5) Precautions;
(6) Adverse Reactions; (7) Dosage and Administration; and (8) References. (Pl. Ex. 3 at 1-4).

¹ Citations to the record are indicated as "R. __". The plaintiff's trial exhibits are indicated as "Pl. Ex. __".

The Clinical Pharmacology section classified and discussed the different types of viruses and noted that, because new variations of influenza appear every year, the CDC uses characteristics of current strains to select those to be included in the next year's vaccine. This section was based primarily on the "Recommendations of the Public Health Service Immunization Practices Advisory Committee," whose report, "Prevention and Control of Influenza; Part I, Vaccines," is published in the *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reporter*, volume 38 at 297-311 (1989). (Pl. Ex. 3 at 1). This section also described the considerable risks of influenza. *Id*.

The Indications and Usage section described certain groups that should consider vaccination. The insert recommended vaccination for health care providers, including those in out-patient settings, since they have extensive contact with high-risk individuals to whom it might be passed and from whom influenza might be contracted. The general target groups included "any person who wishes to reduce his/her chances of acquiring influenza infection." (Pl. Ex. 3 at 2).

The Contraindications section also explained that the influenza virus is propagated in eggs, and beyond warning physicians that it should not be administered to anyone with a history of an allergy to eggs or egg products, it noted:

Immunization should be delayed in a patient with an active neurological disorder, but should be considered when the disease process has been stabilized.

(Pl. Ex. 3 at 3). The Precaution section noted:

Prior to an injection of any vaccine, all known precautions should be taken to prevent side reactions. This includes a review of the patient's history with respect to possible sensitivity to the vaccine or similar vaccine.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

The Adverse Reaction section discussed several possible systemic and allergic reactions based on probable hypersensitivity to any of the vaccine's components. The section language pertinent to this lawsuit stated: Unlike the 1976 swine flu influenza vaccine, subsequent vaccines prepared from other virus strains have not been associated with an increased frequency of Guillain-Barré Syndrome.

Id. This statement was documented with three footnotes that referenced primary literature on the subject, two of which relate specifically to GBS,² and with endnote references to 23 separate works that also include references related specifically to a possible connection between flu vaccine and GBS. Immediately following these references, the insert states that the connection "has been questioned by other physicians," followed by two referenced articles specifically dealing with GBS.³

The wording of the package insert as it relates to GBS was taken directly from the Public Health Services Immunization Practices Advisory Committee Newsletter, which the insert specifically referenced. (Pl. Ex. 3 at 4, n.1; R. 1406).

II. Farnes' inoculation with the flu vaccine.

Farnes understood the risks of contracting influenza, and chose to receive the vaccine because he was working in a health care facility where he faced a risk of exposure. (R. 1216-17). Dr. Paul Jahnig, the medical director of the clinic where Farnes was employed and was vaccinated, delegated the task of vaccinating its employees to the nursing staff. (R. 1436E). Dr. Jahnig did not testify.

Cynthia Fox, the acting head nurse, vaccinated Farnes. Because she had never previously given any type of vaccine, she read the entire package insert before proceeding. (R. 1436G). Fox recalled that the insert warned against administering the vaccine to anyone

Recommendation of the Public Health Service Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIPT). Prevention and Control of Influenza: Part I, Vaccines. MMWR 38:298-311, 1989; Schonberger, L.B., et al.: Guillain-Barré syndrome following vaccination in the National Influenza Immunization Program, U.S., 1976-77. AM J EPID 110: 105-123, 1979; and Schonberger, L.B., et al.: Guillain-Barré Syndrome: its epidemiology in associations with influenza vaccination. Ann. Neurol. 9 (Suppl.): 31-38, 1981.

³ Baghi, E., et al.: Guillain-Barré Syndrome Clinicoepidemiologic features and effect of influenza vaccine. Arch. Neurol., Vol. 42, 1053-1057, 1985; and Kurland, L.T., et al.: Swine influenza vaccine and Guillain-Barré syndrome. Epidemic or artifact? Arch Neurol. Vol. 42, 1089-1090, 1985.

with an allergy to eggs, suffering from a respiratory infection, or with a prior negative reaction to a flu shot. (R. 1436H). As a result of these warnings, she said she would have asked any patient about these particular subjects. *Id*.

She also read the insert's information about neurological disorders and understood that vaccination of a patient with an active neurological disease should be delayed. She also understood that she should refer anyone with a history of a previous but stabilized neurological disorder to a physician before administering the vaccine. (R. 1436P). She knows that GBS is a neurological disease. *Id.* She testified that, if she had been aware that Farnes had a prior neurological condition, she would not have given the injection without consulting the physician who prescribed the vaccine, but she could not remember whether she ever asked Farnes if he currently or previously suffered from any neurological disorder. *Id.* She did *not* refer him to Dr. Jahnig, and did *not* consult his medical history. (R. 1436K-L).

III. <u>Expert testimony.</u>

Farnes relied on Dr. Peter Lichtenfeld as an expert to opine on the adequacy of the insert's warning. Dr. Lichtenfeld is a neurologist in private practice who has a personal history of GBS. (R. 1285).

Dr. Lichtenfeld authored a single article related to GBS that appeared in 1971 in a peer-reviewed professional journal titled "Automatic Dysfunction and Guillain-Barré Syndrome." The article discussed cardiac and blood pressure problems associated with GBS, but did not discuss the possibility of a causal connection between flu vaccine and GBS. (R. 1287-89; 1345).

Dr. Lichtenfeld served on the Medical Advisory Board for the International Guillain-Barré Syndrome Foundation, an organization that promotes research, meetings, communications and support among doctors and professionals who deal with GBS patients and their families. (R. 1290). The Foundation provides information on a regular basis through

newsletters, meetings, and lectures by Medical Advisory Board members like himself. *Id.* In a 1990 newsletter the Foundation wrote:

The safety of flu vaccine for the current or former Guillain-Barré patient is unclear. However, the risk of the vaccine triggering the symptoms is much lower than the risks associated with influenza. Indeed, flu vaccines used since 1976 have not been associated with an increased risk of contracting GBS.

(R. 1348-50) (emphasis added).

Dr. Lichtenfeld disagreed with the Foundation's statement. He had argued his position at a post-publication Foundation meeting, but he agreed that the Foundation's newsletter was still being distributed to members of the Foundation at the time of trial. (R. 1350).

Dr. Lichtenfeld did not discuss the risks of influenza, or weigh the risks associated with contracting that illness against the risk of the vaccine triggering GBS. Dr. Lichtenfeld believed that, all factors being equal, persons who have had a history of GBS should not receive a flu vaccination. (R. 1332). His opinion was based in part on his belief that all vaccines are capable of causing GBS. (R. 1344, 1348). He acknowledged, however, that a causal relationship will never be proven statistically because the number of reported incidents is small. (R. 1302). He was unable to identify how a particular vaccine causes GBS, but testified only: "It is something in the vaccine that doesn't mix with the recipient that causes it. That something has not been identified." (R. 1348).

Dr. Lichtenfeld had never worked for a pharmaceutical company, had never worked for the FDA, had never worked for the CDC (although he participated as one neurologist of many in a CDC study), had never written a package insert, had never reviewed a package insert for government approval, and had never been involved in the manufacture of vaccines. (R. 1346-47). In preparation for his testimony, Dr. Lichtenfeld reviewed only Connaught's insert for the 1989-90 vaccine and no others. (R. 1297-98).⁴

⁴ Over the years, he had accumulated various package inserts, but he did not review them before his testimony in this case. (R. 1299-1300).

Dr. Lichtenfeld does not buy flu vaccines, does not administer them (R. 1298), and, therefore, has never had the occasion to question the adequacy of a package insert as a treating physician. Nonetheless, he opined that the Adverse Reaction section of Connaught's package insert failed to reflect adequately the medical opinions in the field. (R. 1308-09). He spoke in general about medical literature that supported his viewpoint, but did not identify any particular journal, article, or test. (R. 1303). He was unaware that the statement — "Unlike the 1976 swine flu influenza vaccine, subsequent vaccines prepared from other virus strains have not been associated with an increased frequency of Guillain-Barré Syndrome"— originated with the CDC, or that the CDC had reviewed it. (R. 1346-47). He was also unaware that the *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reporter* used this language when it published the recommendations from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), and he admitted that he had never read nor ever seen that publication. *Id*. He did not say that reliance on ACIP wording in preparing a package insert falls outside the medical community's standard of care, only that in his opinion it should. (R. 1328).

Dr. W.C. Wiederholt, Connaught's expert witness on the adequacy of the package insert, is a board-certified neurologist. He was trained, writes and publishes in the field of epidemiology, which is the study and prevention of disease in populations. (R. 1550-55). He has written approximately 100 or more articles in his field, five to ten of which directly addressed Guillain-Barré Syndrome. (R. 1561). He is the former Chairman of the Department of Neuro-Sciences at the University of California, San Diego, where he is currently a professor of neuro-sciences. (R. 1559).

Dr. Wiederholt first studied the possibility of a connection between flu vaccine and GBS in the early 1960s. The study analyzed 198 cases in a search for common events preceding the onset of GBS symptoms. (R. 1561-62). He and others determined that GBS is often preceded by an upper respiratory infection, a viral infection with diarrhea and vomiting, surgery, trauma, and vaccinations. They concluded, however, that the temporal relationship between a preceding event and GBS did not necessarily prove that the two events were

related. (R. 1563-65). Depending on the particular study, approximately 25 to 40 percent of patients diagnosed with GBS had no precipitating events. (R. 1563). He testified that, although a "temporal relationship" may be established, if its distribution in a large number of situations is random, it does not prove a statistically valid relationship. (R. 1554-55).

Dr. Wiederholt testified that, during the 1976 swine flu period, there were 1,098 reported cases of GBS. (R. 1569). Of these, approximately 200 had received a flu vaccine, although this association had never been reported. (R. 1569-70). The swine flu vaccine was well known. It had been used in the armed forces for a number of years without side effects or a noticeable increase in the rate of GBS. It had also been used in Holland with no reported increase in the incidence of GBS. (R. 1569-72). The CDC terminated the swine flu vaccine program and launched a study in 1978-79, using a third of all practicing neurologists in the United States, including Dr. Lichtenfeld, to report incidents of vaccine related cases of GBS. (R. 1570-71). After collecting the data, the CDC concluded that subsequent immunization was not associated with an increased risk of GBS. (R. 1571).

Dr. Wiederholt and Dr. Kurland from the Mayo Clinic analyzed the results of the CDC's study of the relationship between 1976 swine flu vaccination and GBS to determine the validity of its findings. (R. 1568-69). They published their results in a peer-reviewed publication identified in the Connaught package insert. (R. 1568-69). Dr. Wiederholt testified that the increase in the incidence of GBS associated with the 1976 flu vaccine was related to the viral agent itself and that there exists no evidence of an increase of a risk of GBS from vaccines prior to or after 1976. (R. 1572-73).

Dr. Wiederholt reviewed the Connaught insert and opined that it adequately informed the reader of the state-of-the-art medical data. He also opined that a person with a history of GBS should receive a flu shot if he otherwise needs it; his opinion is consistent with the recommendation of the International Guillain-Barré Syndrome Foundation. He also expressed the view that Farnes' flu shot did not cause his symptoms, and that his condition was not GBS

but a disease with no identified cause known as Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy. (R. 1573-75).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The standard for review of an order granting a new trial was developed by this Court over more than 100 years, and refined in *Smith v. Brown*. The Court held that if reasonable men can differ about **the propriety of the trial court's action** in granting a new trial, then the trial court did not abuse its discretion. 525 So. 2d at 869-70. The Court also held that the trial court, when considering a new trial motion, "must necessarily" consider the credibility of the witnesses with all the evidence. *Id.* at 870. Nevertheless, the district court ruled that the trial judge, who followed that directive, erred because trial judges "do not have the discretion to substitute their judgment for that of the jury in regard to the conflicting testimony of expert medical witnesses." *Farnes*, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D2.

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