10-14	FILED SID J. WHITE
IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA Case No. 87,632	SID J. WHITE SEP IN 1996 CLEFK CUPRENAE COURT By CHER Exports There
E.R. SQUIBB & SONS, INC., CONNAUGHT LABORATORIES, INC. and HEN	•
Petitioners,	

٧.

BOYD B. FARNES,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF BOYD B. FARNES

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

a

James J. Breen, Esquire Florida Bar No. 297178 Wa**mpl**er, Buchanan & Breen, P.A. **777** Brickell Avenue 900 SunTrust Building Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 577-0044 Facsimile: (305) 577-8545

Counsel for Boyd B. Fames

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

4. The unrebutted testimony of CONNAUGHT's officials, as well as CONNAUGHT's answers to interrogatories, confirm that CONNAUGHT's 1989 influenza vaccine was made exactly as its 1976

vaccine, except for the virus stain, and contains foreign proteins as did the 1976 vaccine. (R.1394, 1436GG, 1632-35)

5. Dr. Wiederholt was unaware that CONNAUGHT has not changed its vaccine manufacturing process since 1976 or that the 1989 vaccine contained foreign proteins. (R.1587)

6. All other manufacturers were careful to clearly explain that a possible GBS risk still existed, in spite of the lack of a completed epidemiological study using post 1976 data. (Pl.Ex.12, 13 and 14). CONNAUGHT chose, instead, to include language which called into question even the study of the 1976 data, which all experts accept as establishing a causal link. (R.1560-70, 1586).

7. Dr. Samuelson, CONNAUGHT's medical official responsible for the package insert language, testified that he would be surprised if CONNAUGHT's language about GBS was different from its competitors, yet the undisputed evidence proved that CONNAUGHT's language about GBS was materially different. (R.1436TT).

8. Dr. Samuelson admitted that CONNAUGHT continues to receive adverse reaction reports of GBS following administration of its flu vaccine and that, rather than inform physicians of this fact in the package insert, he just laughs at some of them. (R.14364-DD)

9. Dr. Samuelson elected to exclude language used up to 1985, even by CONNAUGHT, that specifically warned physicians about

the risk posed to patients with a history of Guillain Barre' Syndrome. (R.1436PP-QQ)

10. Dr. Samuelson disagreed with all experts in the field that the 1976 study proved a causal association between flu vaccines and Guillain Barre' Syndrome. (R.1436PP-QQ).

FARNES respectfully submits that there is no way that any reasonable person could possibly conclude that the manifest weight of the evidence established that CONNAUGHT provided an adequate warning about GBS. The trial court's expressed reasons for ordering a new trial reveal mistaken recollections of the evidence and resultant erroneous inferences. The abuse of discretion in the new trial order could not be more clear and the district court was correct in reversing it based upon its thorough review of the record.

D. The District Court of Appeal properly conducted a close examination of the record in this case yet CONNAUGHT asks that this Court rely solely upon the trial court's mistaken recollections of the evidence rather than the record itself.

CONNAUGHT calls for a new standard of review of new trial orders where appellate courts are bound by a trial judge's recollection of the evidence rather than the record of that evidence itself. A search for record support for the trial court's findings relied upon by CONNAUGHT in its Brief merely serves to reaffirm why appellate review is such a fundamental part of our system of due process of law, including cases involving new trial

orders. Laskey v. Smith, 239 So. 2d at 13; and Wackenhut Corp. v. Canty, 359 So. 2d at 436.

CONNAUGHT continuously makes representations about the testimony of Dr. Lichtenfeld which, although perhaps consistent with the trial court's erroneous recollection of the testimony, are not consistent with what the record shows was actually said. Significant parts of Dr. Lichtenfeld's testimony are quoted verbatim at pages 15 through 24 of this Brief. CONNAUGHT, however, cites the trial court's order (R.1003-1006) in support of its contentions as to the evidentiary basis for the trial court's conclusions. FARNES respectfully requests that this Court consider the actual evidence of record, as the district court properly did. Just a few examples of CONNAUGHT's erroneous recitations of the evidence are as follows:

Subparagraph (1) states that "he [Dr. Lichtenfeld] admitted CONNAUGHT's warning was not in violation of community standards." Dr. Lichtenfeld never said such a thing.

Subparagraph (2) refers to the lack of a completed study after 1976 but omits Dr. Lichtenfeld's testimony about partial studies and the fact that no expert has concluded, based upon any study, that no risk of contracting GBS from influenza vaccine existed in 1989.

Subparagraph (3) represents that Dr. Lichtenfeld admitted that he had never reviewed other package inserts. What Dr. Lichtenfeld actually testified to was a follows:

"I never said that. I said in preparation for this case I looked at the package insert for the product that Mr. FARNES received. I have looked at many other package inserts over the years."

 $(R.1297)^{12}$

Throughout page 17 of its Brief, CONNAUGHT continues to rely upon mischaracterizations of Dr. Lichtenfeld's expert opinion testimony. These conclusions, although not supported by record evidence, do nothing to negate the fact that a possible risk of influenza vaccine causing Guillain Barre' Syndrome existed in 1989 or that CONNAUGHT's insert falsely assured the physician that no such risk existed. CONNAUGHT goes so far as to add to the mischaracterization by representing that Dr. Lichtenfeld "was unable to cite any reports or articles on which he claimed to have relied." CONNAUGHT cites to Page 1302 through 1303 of the record. A review of the actual record reveals that Dr. Lichtenfeld was

¹² CONNAUGHT's reference to the trial court's finding that Dr. Lichtenfeld has not prepared a package insert in the same subparagraph further demonstrates the trial court's failure to follow this Court's mandates. In *Upjohn v. MacMurdo*, the Court rejected a pharmacologist's testimony as not probative of what the language means to a physician, even though he had worked for three pharmaceutical companies writing package inserts. 562 So. 2d at 683, 684.

never asked to cite any reports or articles but instead described the recent studies.¹³ Dr. Lichtenfeld testified that his opinion, in part, was based upon his review of "all the world's [medical] literature." (R.1303).

In the second paragraph on Page 17 of their Brief, CONNAUGHT refers to Dr. Lichtenfeld's testimony regarding the Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reporter and reports published by the Advisory Committee On Immunization Practices (ACIP) and represent that the record establishes the following:

"He would not say that reliance on those guidelines violated the standard of care in the industry; he said only that it should."

CONNAUGHT grossly misstates the record on this point. Dr. Lichtenfeld testified that he did not believe that reliance upon government recommended language <u>should</u> equate with adequacy (R.1328) On the other hand, CONNAUGHT's corporate officials, Dr. Vosdingh and Dr. Ebert, both testified that reliance upon such government recommended language does not equate with adequacy and CONNAUGHT never put into evidence the recommended language it contends it followed. (R.1414-22, 1636-39).

In the last paragraph on Page 17 of their Brief, CONNAUGHT again misquotes Dr. Lichtenfeld's testimony when it states that he

¹³ CONNAUGHT's representation that Dr. Lichtenfeld was unable to cite articles is particularly unreasonable in view of the fact that, at trial, CONNAUGHT did not cross-examine Dr. Lichtenfeld about articles. Rule 706, Florida Rules of Evidence.

opined "that prior GBS sufferers should never be vaccinated." As noted above, Dr. Lichtenfeld's testimony reveals that he merely testified that prior GBS sufferers should avoid anything containing a foreign protein, such as vaccines, unless absolutely essential for their health. (R.1347-48).

Again in the last paragraph on page 17 of its Brief, CONNAUGHT represents that Dr. Lichtenfeld's opinion about the inadequacy of CONNAUGHT's insert regarding GBS "is not consistent with medical literature or experience." Absolutely no evidence was offered or introduced at trial which reflects that CONNAUGHT's package insert, with respect to GBS, is "consistent with medical literature or experience" to the extent that it fails to warn of the GBS risk.

Contrary to CONNAUGHT's representations in the last sentence of page 17 and at subparagraph 3 at page 18 of their Brief, Dr. Wiederholt never expressly said that CONNAUGHT's package insert <u>adequately warned of GBS</u> and CONNAUGHT's contention that the trial court could properly give Dr. Wiederholt's opinion in this regard more weight than Dr. Lichtenfeld's is unreasonable.

FARNES respectfully submits that CONNAUGHT's desparate attempt to draw favorable inferences, no matter how inconsistent with the record, is necessary only because the manifest weight of the evidence clearly preponderates in favor of the jury's determination.

E. The district courts of appeal are able to properly apply the standard of review of new trial orders mandated by this Court and CONNAUGHT's plea for uniformity is illusory.

At pages 21 through 23 of its Brief, CONNAUGHT cites a multitude of appellate decisions involving appeals of new trial orders and appears to conclude that those opinions correctly apply the law only when the trial court is affirmed and are less than faithful to the mandates of this Court any time a decision is made to reverse. FARNES respectfully submits that this Court has clearly annunciated the reasonable man standard of review applicable in new trial cases. See e.g., *Cloud v. Fallis; Laskey v. Smith; Hedge v. Jacksonville Terminal Co.,* 234 So. 2d 645 (Fla. 1970); *Stewart Bonded Warehouse, Inc. v. Bevis,* 294 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1974); *Wackenhut Corp. v. Canty; Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis; Smith v. Brown.* Further clarification of the standard is simply not necessary to enable the district courts of appeal to fulfill their duty of appellate review.

Even CONNAUGHT has difficulty articulating precisely what it is that it contends is unclear about this Court's prior decisions or what it is that CONNAUGHT contends the district courts of appeal are confused about. CONNAUGHT's reference to Crown Cork & Seal Co., Inc. v. Vroom, 480 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) demonstrates the illusory nature of CONNAUGHT's argument. CONNAUGHT criticizes the Crown Cork & Seal court because it found that "reasonable men could not differ that the verdict was not against the manifest weight of the evidence" rather than stating that it applied the reasonable man standard to "the propriety of the trial court's action" as was done in McNair v. Davis, 518 So. 2d 416, 417 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988). CONNAUGHT raises what is, at most, a distinction without

a difference. Indeed, this Court has expressed the correct application of the standard of review by using both kinds of descriptions. First, in Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d at 1342, this Court held:

"If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then there is no abuse of discretion."

Later, in *Smith v. Brown*, the case that CONNAUGHT contends the district court failed to follow below, this Court articulated the standard of review using substantially the same words that appear in *Crown*, *Cork & Seal* and which are now criticized by CONNAUGHT:

"... we are unable to say, after reviewing the evidence as a whole, that reasonable men could not have concluded that the verdict for petitioners was against the manifest weight of the evidence." 525 So. 2d at 879.

The district court of appeal in the instant case adhered to the standard as articulated by this Court in *Smith v. Brown* and held:

"A trial court may not properly grant a new trial when reasonable persons cannot differ that the verdict was not against the manifest weight of the evidence." (R.1779)

The "varied results" complained of by CONNAUGHT (Petitioners' Briefs, p.23) stem from the simple reality that, sometimes in cases such as the instant one, trial courts commit prejudicial error by ordering a new trial when reasonable men could not find the jury's determination to be contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence.¹⁴

¹⁴ CONNAUGHT's contentions are also inherently incongruent. Becker v. Williams, 652 So. 2d 1182, 1184-85 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), is cited by CONNAUGHT, apparently as an example of the failure of some appellate panels to properly adhere to CONNAUGHT's

A review of the appellate decisions cited by CONNAUGHT clearly establishes that the district courts of appeal, including the Third District Court of Appeal in the instant case, are conscious of and adherent to the appropriate standard of review as repeatedly articulated by this Court.

F. The instant case does not support adoption of a special rule requiring district courts to write special opinions in new trial cases.

CONNAUGHT contends that this Court should, for new trial cases only, place special limitations and restrictions on the role of district courts mandated by the 1980 amendments to the Florida Constitution. Nothing in the present case calls for such a radical departure from this Court's continued adherence to both the letter and spirit of the constitutional provisions placing final review authority of such cases in the district courts of appeal. FARNES respectfully submits that there is no constitutionally or practically sound basis for mandating an elevated degree of

interpretation of this Court's decisions in that:

"the court reversed an order granting new trial where the trial judge chose to believe the plaintiff's over the defendant's expert. . ." (Petitioners' Brief, p. 22)

CONNAUGHT felt differently about the *Becker* decision when it filed its Brief on Jurisdiction in the instant case because *Becker v*. *Williams* is cited, at page 4, footnote 2, as one of the decisions allegedly in conflict with the instant case.

specificity for opinions in new trial appeals to enable the losing party the opportunity for a second appeal in this Court.

CONNAUGHT concedes as much at page 23 of its Brief where it notes that the 1980 Amendments to Article V, §3(b(3) of the Florida Constitution:

"ceded complete authority to the district courts to decide not only whether they would choose to write, but what they would chose to write."

(Emphasis supplied by CONNAUGHT.)

CONNAUGHT thus asks that this Court impose controls over the drafting of district court opinions that are inconsistent with the trust and confidence in those same courts that was demonstrated by the citizenry through the 1980 Amendments. CONNAUGHT's argument further highlights its inability to demonstrate express and direct conflict between the district court's opinion in the present case and the prior decisions of this Court or the other district courts of appeal. See eg., *Jerry's Inc. v. Marriott Corporation*, 401 So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 1981) (Justice England concurring).

G. CONNAUGHT has failed to demonstrate error in the opinion of the district court.

The district court correctly applied the required standard of review below and properly reversed because the trial court vetoed the jury's acceptance of unobjected to expert witness opinion testimony and ordered a new trial and the record demonstrates that reasonable men could not find the verdict to be contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. FARNES respectfully submits that CONNAUGHT has had its day in court and the jury has made its decision. Nothing in this case justifies requiring FARNES to once again prove his case to yet another jury before he can be compensated for the catastrophic injuries he has suffered.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE RECORD CANNOT POSSIBLY SUPPORT JUDGMENT FOR CONNAUGHT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

CONNAUGHT contends that it is entitled to a directed verdict because

it purportedly

" . . . moved for a directed verdict at the close of the evidence, asserting that the adequacy of its package insert was a question of law under *Felix v. Hoffman-LaRoche, Inc.*, 540 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1989), and *MacMurdo*, 562 So. 2d at 680. (R.1641)"

(Petitioners Brief, p.25)

A review of the record as cited by CONNAUGHT, however, reveals that CONNAUGHT merely moved for a directed verdict, in general, and never stated that its warning was adequate as a matter of law. (R.1641). Notwithstanding its failure to preserve the issue, the trial court entertained CONNAUGHT's arguments on its Motion for Judgment in Accordance with its Motion for Directed Verdict and again denied the motion. (R.999-1006). FARNES respectfully submits that, even assuming arguendo CONNAUGHT had preserved the issue, it is not entitled to the benefit of the protections afforded pharmaceutical manufacturers who adequately warn the learned intermediary of their product's potential risks.

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